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I.  INTRODUCTION
1. In this Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture, we find that CMP Group ("CMP"), operator of Common Carrier Point-to-Point Microwave stations in the State of Maine, engaged in a pro forma transfer of control of stations originally licensed to Central Maine Power Company ("Central Maine") without prior Commission consent, in apparent violation of Section 310(d) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended ("Act"),
 and Section 101.53 of the Commission's Rules.
  We conclude that CMP is apparently liable for a forfeiture in the amount of six thousand five hundred dollars ($6,500).


II.  BACKGROUND
2. On or about September 1, 1998, Central Maine merged with CMP.
  As a result of the merger, Central Maine became an operating subsidiary of CMP, and the licenses held by Central Maine came under the direct operating control of CMP.
 
3. On or about October 22, 1998, Central Maine filed an application for consent to the transfer of its licenses to CMP.
  In the accompanying transmittal letter, Central Maine summarized the merger and subsequently explained that its failure to request Commission consent prior to the merger was an inadvertent error on their part due to their confusion over the transfer process.
  This application remains pending.
III. DISCUSSION

4. Section 310(d) of the Communications Act
  provides in pertinent part:

No construction permit or station license, or any rights thereunder, shall be transferred, assigned, or disposed of in any manner, voluntarily or involuntarily, directly or indirectly, or by transfer of control of any corporation holding such permit or license, to any person except upon application to the Commission and upon finding by the Commission that the public interest, convenience, and necessity will be served thereby.

This section was codified for fixed microwave services at Section 101.53(a) of the Commission's Rules.
  

5. Our review of the merger indicates that the transaction constituted a pro forma transfer of control.  The Commission has stated that a pro forma transfer of control includes a "transfer from a corporation to a wholly owned subsidiary thereof or vice versa."
  In this case, Central Maine engaged in a pro forma transfer of control of its licenses when it merged into, and became a subsidiary of, CMP.
6. Failure to obtain Commission consent to a transfer of control is a violation for which the Commission has long imposed monetary forfeitures.
  It is undisputed that Central Maine did not apply for or obtain Commission consent prior to the transfers of control of its stations to CMP on September 1, 1998.  The guidelines contained in the Commission's Forfeiture Policy Statement, which became effective on October 14, 1997, give a base forfeiture amount of $1,000 for each unauthorized pro forma transfer of control.
  Section 503(b)(2)(D) of the Act
 and Section 1.80(b)(4)
 of the Commission's Rules require us to take into account "the nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the violation and, with respect to the violator, the degree of culpability, and history of prior offenses, ability to pay, and such other matters as justice may require."
  

7. We find the transfers were pro forma in nature.  Furthermore, Central Maine voluntarily notified the Commission of these transfers less than one month after they occurred.
  While we continue to believe that engaging in an unauthorized transfer of control constitutes a serious breach of licensee responsibility, given these mitigating factors, we find on balance that a forfeiture in the amount of six thousand five hundred dollars ($6,500) is appropriate. 


IV.  Ordering Clauses
8. ACCORDINGLY, pursuant to Section 503(b) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended,
 Section 1.80 of the Commission's Rules,
 and the authority delegated in Section 0.331 of the Commission's Rules,
  CMP is hereby NOTIFIED of its APPARENT LIABILITY FOR A FORFEITURE in the amount of six thousand five hundred dollars ($6,500) for willfully and repeatedly violating Section 310(d) of the Communications Act of 1934,
 as amended, and Section 101.53 of the Commission's Rules.

9. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Section 1.80 of the Commission's Rules,
 that within thirty days of the release of this Notice, CMP SHALL PAY the full amount of the proposed forfeiture
 or SHALL FILE a written statement seeking reduction or cancellation of the proposed forfeiture.

10. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Notice shall be sent by Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested to Steve Thibodeau, Central Maine Power Company, 57 Old Winthrop Road, Augusta, Maine 04330.
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�	The stations in question have the following call signs: KBY72, KBY73, KBY75, KBY76, KBY78, KBY79, WCE327, WEF638, WEF639, WEF640, WEF672, WNEL839, WNEL840, WNEN242, WNEN243, WNET718, WNET719, WNET720, WNTF648, WNTS260, WPJC767, WPJD487, WPJD488, WPJD489, WPCN829, and WPNH852.


�	47 U.S.C. § 301(d).


�	47 C.F.R. § 101.53.  The Commission replaced Section 101.53 of the Commission's Rules with Section 1.948 of the Commission's Rules on February 12, 1999.  See In the Matter of the Biennial Regulatory Review — Amendment of Parts 0, 1,13, 22, 24, 26,27,80,87,90,95,97 and 101 of the Commission's Rules to Facilitate the Development and Use of the Universal Licensing Service in the Wireless Telecommunications Services, 13 FCC Rcd 21027 (1998) and 47 C.F.R. § 1.948.  The prior rule is applicable here because Central Maine notified the Commission of the transfer of the stations before that date.


�	Letter, dated July 14, 1999, from Steven Thibodeau, Communications Services Supervisor, Central Maine Power, to John Schauble, Enforcement and Consumer Information Division, Wireless Telecommunications Bureau, FCC.


�	Id.


� 	See FCC Form 415, from Steven Thibodeau, Communications Services Supervisor, Central Maine Power filed October 22, 1998.


�	Letter, dated November 18, 1998, from Steven Thibodeau, Communications Services Supervisor, Central Maine Power, to Cindy Sanderson, Wireless Bureau Applications, FCC at Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.


� 	47 U.S.C. § 310(d).


�	47 C.F.R. § 101.53.  As stated in footnote 3, supra, the Commission replaced Section 101.53 of the Commission rules with Section 1.948 of the Commission Rules on February 12, 1999, but the prior rule is applicable here because Central Maine filed its FCC Form 415 before that date. 


�	In the Matter of Federal Communication Bar Association's Petition for Forbearance from Section 310(d) of the Communications Act Regarding Non-Substantial Assignments of Wireless Licenses and Transfers of Control Involving Telecommunications Carriers and Personal Communications Industry Association's Broadband Personal Communications Services, 13 FCC Rcd 6293, 6299 (1998).


�	See, e.g., Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 13 FCC Rcd 12323 (1998) (reply pending), Western Slope Communications, Ltd., 12 FCC Rcd 7965 (1997); Telecourier Communications Corporation, 10 FCC Rcd 10014 (1995); and Hinton Telephone Co. of Hinton, Oklahoma, Inc., 7 FCC Rcd 6643 (1992).


�	The Commission's Forfeiture Policy Statement and Amendment of Section 1.80 of the Rules to Incorporate the Forfeiture Guidelines, 12 FCC Rcd 17087, Appendix A (1997).  The base forfeiture amount for an unauthorized transfer of control which is not pro forma is substantially higher, $8,000.


�	47 U.S.C. § 503(b)(2)(D).


�	47 C.F.R. § 1.80.


� 	47 U.S.C. § 503(b)(2)(D).


�	We note that subsequent to the adoption of Section 1.948 of the Commission’s rules, 47 C.F.R. § 1.948, the Commission will forbear from finding a pro forma transfer to be a violation of Section 310(d) of the Act.


�	47 U.S.C. § 503(b).


�	47 C.F.R. § 1.80(b)(4).


�	47 C.F.R. § 0.331. 


�	47 U.S.C. § 310(d).


�	47 C.F.R. § 101.53.


�	47 C.F.R. § 1.80.


�	Payment of the forfeiture may be made by credit card through the Commission's Billings and Collections Branch at (202) 418-1995 or by mailing a check or similar instrument, payable to the order of the Federal Communications Commission, to the Federal Communications Commission, P.O. Box 73482, Chicago, Illinois 60673-7482.  The payment should note the file number of this proceeding. 







